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Plaintiffs Katie Wood (“Ms. Wood”), Jane Doe,* and AV Schwandes (“Mx. 

Schwandes”) file this complaint against Defendants Florida Department of Educa-

tion; State Board of Education; Monesia Brown, Esther Byrd, Grazie Christie, Kelly 

Garcia, Benjamin Gibson, MaryLynn Magar, and Ryan Petty, in their official capac-

ities as members of Defendant State Board of Education; Commissioner of Educa-

tion; Education Practices Commission; and Aadil Ameerally, Ana Armbrister Bland, 

Jared Barr, Michael Butcher, Yvonne Caldwell, Elayne Colon, Ann Copenhaver, 

Joseph Goodwin, Benjamin Henry, Timothy Holley, Lisa Innerst, Jeffrey Johnson, 

Kenneth LaPee, Mason Lewis, Sallie Murphy, Christine Plaza, Kevin Rowe, Charles 

Shaw, Orenthya Sloan, Marc Snyder, Malcolm Thomas, Jordan Tompkins, and 

Kathy Wilks, in their official capacities as members of Defendant Education Prac-

tices Commission. Ms. Wood also files this complaint against Defendant Hills-

borough County School Board. Ms. Doe also files this complaint against Defendant 

Lee County School Board. Mx. Schwandes also files this complaint against Defend-

ant Florida Virtual School Board of Trustees. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. Plaintiffs are current and former Florida public-school teachers who 

simply wanted to teach math, science, and their other school subjects of expertise. 

 
* Plaintiff Jane Doe files this complaint using a pseudonym to protect herself from the threat 

of harassment and violence that her public participation in this case would invite. She intends to 
forthwith file a motion for leave to use a pseudonym in this case. 
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But earlier this year, Florida enacted a new law that pushed one plaintiff out of their 

teaching career and threatens to do the same for the other plaintiffs—and for the 

other transgender and nonbinary teachers like them across Florida. That new law, 

subsection 3 of Florida Statutes (“Fla. Stat.”) § 1000.071 (“subsection 3”), provides 

that “[a]n employee or contractor of a public K-12 educational institution may not 

provide to a student his or her preferred personal title or pronouns if such preferred 

personal title or pronouns do not correspond to his or her sex.” Subsection 3 discrim-

inates against transgender and nonbinary public-school employees and contractors 

on the basis of sex, by prohibiting them from using the titles and pronouns that ex-

press who they are. Subsection 3 requires Plaintiffs to shed their titles and pronouns 

at the schoolhouse gate because they are not the titles and pronouns that Florida 

prefers for the sex it deems them to be. Florida has the power to revoke the educator 

certificates of teachers who violate subsection 3, and school boards are able to dis-

miss violators. 

2. Subsection 3 violates the Constitution and laws of the United States. It 

unlawfully discriminates against Plaintiffs on the basis of sex in violation of Title 

VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, and Title IX of the Education Amendments of 

1972 because whether Plaintiffs may provide to students a particular title or pronoun 

depends entirely on Plaintiffs’ sex, and Florida has only an invidious basis—not an 
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§ 20.15(5). 

9. Defendants Monesia Brown, Esther Byrd, Grazie Christie, Kelly Gar-

cia, Benjamin Gibson, MaryLynn Magar, and Ryan Petty are members of Defendant 

State Board of Education and sued only in that official capacity (collectively, “Mem-

bers of Defendant State Board of Education”). 

10. Defendant Commissioner of Education holds an office established by 

the Florida constitution. Fla. Const. art. 9, § 2. Defendant Commissioner of Educa-

tion maintains a principal place of business in Tallahassee, Florida. Defendant Com-

missioner of Education is the chief educational officer of Florida. Fla. Stat. 

§ 1001.10(1). Defendant Commissioner of Education serves as the Executive Direc-

tor of Defendant Florida Department of Education. Fla. Stat. § 20.15(2). Defendant 

Commissioner of Education is responsible for giving full assistance to Defendant 

State Board of Education in enforcing compliance with the mission and goals of the 

Early Learning–20 education system, except for the State University System. Fla. 

Stat. § 1001.10(1). Defendant Commissioner of Education has the power and duty 

to organize, staff, and recommend a budget for Defendant Florida Department of 

Education. Fla. Stat. § 1001.10(6). Defendant Commissioner of Education assigns 

powers, duties, responsibilities, and functions to Defendant Florida Department of 

Education. Fla. Stat. § 20.15(5). Defendant Commissioner of Education is sued only 

in its official capacity. 
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of business in Orlando, Florida. It governs the Florida Virtual School. Id. It has seven 

members appointed by the Governor to four-year staggered terms. Fla. Stat. 

§ 1002.37(2). 

2. School Board Defendants 

14. Defendant Hillsborough County School Board is established by the 

Florida constitution to operate, 
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citizens or of all persons within the jurisdiction of the United States[.]” 

18. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1), 

and in this division under Local Rule 3.1, because Defendants Florida Department 

of Education, State Board of Education, and Commissioner of Education reside in 

this judicial district and division and all defendants are residents of Florida; under 

28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving 

rise to the claim occurred in this judicial district and division; and under 42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000e-5(f)(3) because the unlawful employment practice is alleged to have been 

committed in Florida. 

19. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they are 

domiciled in Florida and this civil action arises out of, and relates to, their conduct 

in Florida. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. HB 1069 (2023) 

20. In May 2023, the Florida Legislature enacted, and Governor Ron De-

Santis signed, House Bill (“HB”) 1069, Fla. Laws ch. 2023-105. It took effect on 

July 1, 2023. This case challenges only subsection 3 of section 2 of HB 1069, but 

the bill’s range of changes related to lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and 

nonbinary (“LGBTQ+”) people and content in 
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(2) An employee, contractor, or student of a public K-12 
educational institution may not be required, as a condition 
of employment or enrollment or participation in any pro-
gram, to refer to another person using that person’s pre-
ferred personal title or pronouns if such personal title or 
pronouns do not correspond to that person’s sex. 

(3) An employee or contractor of a public K-12 educa-
tional institution may not provide to a student his or her 
preferred personal title or pronouns if such preferred per-
sonal title or pronouns do not correspond to his or her sex. 

(4) A student may not be asked by an employee or con-
tractor of a public K-12 educational institution to provide 
his or her preferred personal title or pronouns or be penal-
ized or subjected to adverse or discriminatory treatment 
for not providing his or her preferred personal title or pro-
nouns. 

(5) The State Board of Education may adopt rules to ad-
minister this section. 

24. Florida law does not define or set forth which titles and pronouns “cor-

respond to” which sex; instead, § 1000.071 leaves those enforcing it to rely on ste-

reotypes about which titles and pronouns should be used by people whose sex is 

deemed female under the statute and which should be used by people whose sex is 

deemed male under the statute. Therefore, under § 1000.071, titles like Mrs., Ms., 

and Miss and pronouns like she and her “correspond to” people whose sex is deemed 

female; titles like Mr. and pronouns like he and him “correspond to” people whose 

sex is deemed male; and titles like Mx. (pronounced mix or mux) and pronouns like 
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employee’s] title or pronouns” in various ways, such as by saying them to students, 

by saying them to someone within earshot of students, or by writing or displaying 

them on things that are given to or seen by students, like syllabi, classroom boards, 

and emails. 

26. Based on its plain text, subsection 3’s reach is not limited to the work-

place or work hours; it applies wherever, whenever, and however an employee in-

teracts with students. 

27. Under subsection 3, whether an employee may “provide to” students 

the title Ms. and she/her pronouns depends entirely on whether the employee’s sex 

is deemed male or female: if the employee’s sex is deemed female, then the em-

ployee may “provide” them to students, but if the employee’s sex is deemed male, 

then the employee may not. 

28. Under subsection 3, whether an employee may “provide to” students 

the title Mr. and he/him pronouns depends entirely on whether the employee’s sex 

is deemed male or female: if the employee’s sex is deemed male, then the employee 

may “provide” them to students, but if the employee’s sex is deemed female, then 

the employee may not. 
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identity and requires schools to remove material, including books, objected to by 

any parent or county resident, which has resulted in the removal of books that merely 

mention LGBTQ+ people. 

32. Florida flaunted its animus toward LGBTQ+ people when enacting 

these laws. For example, Governor DeSantis signed SB 1028 (2021), Fla. Laws ch. 

2021-35, which bans transgender women and girls from women and girls’ athletic 

teams, on June 1, 2021, the first day of Pride Month for LGBTQ+ people that year. 

Governor DeSantis, his press secretary at the time, and Representative Randy Fine, 

who co-sponsored HB 1069 (2023) and HB 1557 (2022), Fla. Laws ch. 2022-022, 

invidiously described teachers who provide undefined “classroom instruction” on 

sexual orientation and gender identity as attempting to sexualize kids or as groomers, 

referring to someone who grooms a minor for exploitation and especially for non-

consensual sexual activity. During committee debate about HB 1521 (2023), Fla. 

Laws ch. 2023-106, another bill regulating transgender and nonbinary people’s con-

duct, Representative Webster Barnaby, who voted for it, called transgender people 

“mutants from another planet” and Satan’s “demons and imps” “pretend[ing] that 





16 

collaborative, the effective educator consistently … [a]dapts the learning environ-

ment to accommodate the differing needs and diversity of students while ensuring 

that the learning environment is consistent with s. 1000.071.” Fla. Admin. Code r. 

6A-5.065(2)(a)(2)(h). 

36. Rule 6A-10.081 of the Florida Administrative Code sets forth the Prin-

ciples of Professional Conduct for the Education Profession in Florida (“the Princi-

ples”). They include ethical and disciplinary principles. Florida educators must com-

ply with the disciplinary principles, and “[v]iolation of any of the[] [disciplinary] 

principles shall subject the [educator] to revocation or suspension of the individual 

educator’s certificate, or the other penalties as provided by law.” Fla. Admin. Code 

r. 6A-10.081(2). Defendant State Board of Education amended the disciplinary prin-

ciples to provide that educators “[s]hall not violate s 1000.071.” Fla. Admin. Code 

r. 6A-10.081(2)(a)(14). 

37. According to Defendant Commissioner of Education, the proposed rule 

amendments purportedly were steps toward “truth and sanity” and they would pur-

portedly “empower” teachers by supposedly giving them “the freedom to keep order 

in the classroom and to keep distractions away and to create a high-quality learning 

environment.” He did not explain how requiring teachers to comply with subsection 

3, and punishing those who violate it, advances any of those stated goals. 

38. According to Defendant Florida Department of Education, the 
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purported purposes of the rule amendments were to “[e]nsure[] the health, safety, 

and welfare of students,” to “[p]rotect the fundamental rights of parents,” to 

“[r]equire[] standards-based instruction,” and to “[p]rovide[] clarity for educators on 

what is age-appropriate and developmentally appropriate in accordance with state 

standards.” Defendant Florida Department of Education did not explain how requir-

ing teachers to comply with subsection 3, and punishing those who violate it, ad-

vances any of those stated goals. 

39. Defendant Florida Department of Education must investigate potential 

violations of subsection 3 by teachers, see Fla. Stat. § 1012.796(1)(a), and advise 

Defendant Commissioner of Education of its findings, Fla. Stat. § 1012.796(3). De-

fendant Florida Department of Education’s Office of Professional Practice Services 

conducts such investigations. 

40. Defendant Florida Department of Education can learn about potential 

violations of subsection 3 in various ways. For example, School Board Defendants 

must file in writing with Defendant Florida Department of Education all complaints 
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enforcement officer and at least three of whom must be teachers. Fla. Stat. 

§ 1012.796(8)(a). The panel must conduct a formal review of the administrative law 

judge’s recommendations, if any, and other pertinent information and issue a final 

order. Fla. Stat. § 1012.796(6). 

45. Defendant Education Practices Commission must either dismiss the 

complaint or impose penalties on a teacher for violating subsection 3, including 

denying the teacher’s application for a certificate, revoking or suspending the 

teacher’s certificate, imposing an administrative fine up to $2,000 for each offense, 

placing the teacher on probation for which the teacher must pay the costs, restricting 

the authorized scope of the teacher’s practice, reprimanding the teacher in writing in 

the teacher’s file, and barring the teacher, if the teacher’s certificate has expired, 

from applying for a new certificate for up to ten years or permanently. See Fla. Stat. 

§ 1012.796(7). 

46. Defendant Florida Department of Education must maintain a disquali-

fication list that includes the identity of each person who has been permanently de-

nied an educator certificate or whose educator certificate has been permanently re-

voked and has been placed on the list as directed by Defendant Education Practices 

Commission. Fla. Stat. § 1001.10(4)(b). Defendant Florida Department of Education 

maintains that list publicly online. 

47. Defendant State Board of Education must oversee the performance of 
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School Board Defendants’ enforcement of subsection 3 and enforce School Board 

Defendants’ compliance with subsection 3. See Fla. Stat. §§ 1001.03(8), 1008.32. 

48. Defendant Commissioner of Education has the power to investigate al-

legations of School Board Defendants’ noncompliance with subsection 3 and deter-

mine probable cause. See Fla. Stat. § 1008.32(2)(a). Defendant Commissioner of 

Education must report determinations of probable cause to Defendant State Board 

of Education. See id. 
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54. School Board Defendants have the power to suspend or dismiss a 

teacher for violating subsection 3. 

55. School Board Defendants have the power to suspend or dismiss a 

teacher for just cause, such as misconduct in office, gross insubordination, and a 

certain number and frequency of performance evaluations of “needs improvement” 

or “unsatisfactory” as provided by state law. Fla. Stat. § 1012.33(1)(a). 

56. Misconduct in office includes “[a] violation of the Principles,” includ-

ing subsection 3, “[a] violation of the adopted school board rules,” “[b]ehavior that 

disrupts the student’s learning environment,” and “[b]ehavior that reduces the 

teacher’s ability or … colleagues’ ability to effectively perform duties.” Fla. Admin. 

Code r. 6A-5.056(2). 

57. Gross insubordination “means the intentional refusal to obey a direct 

order, reasonable in nature, and given by and with proper authority; misfeasance, or 

malfeasance as to involve failure in the performance of the required duties.” Fla. 

Admin. Code r. 6A-5.056(4). 

58. At least one-third of a teacher’s performance evaluation must be based 

upon instructional practice, which must include indicators based upon each of the 

Practices, including subsection 3. Fla. Stat. § 1012.34(3)(a)(2). 

a. Defendant Hillsborough County School Board 

Plaintiff Katie Wood alleges the following paragraphs 59–61 against 
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Defendants Florida Department of Education, State Board of Education, Education 

Practices Commission, Commissioner of Education, Members of Defendant State 

Board of Education, Members of Defendant Education Practices Commission, and 

Hillsborough County School Board: 

59. All complaints that a teacher violated subsection 3 must be reported to 

Defendant Hillsborough County School Board’s Office of Professional Standards, 

who, in turn, will report such complaints to Defendant Florida Department of Edu-

cation within 30 days after the date on which the subject matter of the complaint 

comes to the attention of Defendant Hillsborough County School Board or the office 

of the superintendent. See Hillsborough Cnty. Sch. Bd. Pol’y 3139. 

60. It is the responsibility of all employees of Defendant Hillsborough 

County School Board to promptly report to the superintendent any complaint against 

a teacher that comes to the employee’s attention and that includes grounds for the 

revocation or suspension of a teaching certificate. Hillsborough Cnty. Sch. Bd. Pol’y 

3139. 

61. The willful failure by an employee of Defendant Hillsborough County 

School Board to promptly report a complaint constitutes cause for discipline of the 

employee as provided by Florida statutes, the Hillsborough County Teacher Tenure 

Act, and Defendant Hillsborough County School Board policy. Hillsborough Cnty. 

Sch. Bd. Pol’y 3139. 
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includes grounds for the revocation or suspension of a teaching certificate. Lee Cnty. 

Sch. Bd. Pol’y 3139. 

66. The willful failure by an employee of Defendant Lee County School 

Board to promptly report a complaint constitutes cause for discipline of the em-

ployee. Lee Cnty. Sch. Bd. Pol’y 3139. 

3. Defendant Florida Virtual School Board of Trustees 

Plaintiff AV Schwandes alleges the following paragraphs 67–68 against De-

fendants Florida Department of Education, State Board of Education, Education 

Practices Commission, Commissioner of Education, Members of Defendant State 

Board of Education, Members of Defendant Education Practices Commission, and 

Florida Virtual School Board of Trustees: 

67. The Principles, including subsection 3, constitute Defendant Florida 

Virtual School Board of Trustees’s standards of ethical conduct, to which all instruc-

tional staff members must adhere. Fla. Virtual Sch. Bd. of Trs. Pol’y 1210. 

68. Florida Virtual School’s CEO, who is appointed by Defendant Florida 

Virtual School Board of Trustees, or designee must report all complaints that a 

teacher violated subsection 3 to Defendant Florida Department of Education within 

30 days after the date on which the subject matter of the complaint comes to the 

attention of the CEO or designee. See Fla. Virtual Sch. Bd. of Trs. Pol’y 8141. 
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D. Gender Identity and the Harms of Misgendering 

69. Subsection 3 harms transgender and nonbinary teachers by prohibiting 

them from using titles and pronouns that express their gender identity. 

70. Gender identity is an innate, internal sense of one’s sex. Everyone has 

a gender identity. Cisgender people’s gender identity is consistent with their sex as-

signed at birth, but transgender people have a gender identity that differs from their 

sex assigned at birth. 

71. Nonbinary is an adjective used by people who experience their gender 

identity or gender expression as falling outside the binary gender categories of man 

and woman; nonbinary people may identify as being both a man and a woman, some-

where in between, or as falling completely outside these categories. Many nonbinary 

people also call themselves transgender and consider themselves part of the 

transgender community. 

72. Many transgender people adopt a new name, pronouns, hairstyle, and 

clothing that express their gender identity, and many express their gender identity in 

all aspects of their life, including at work. Following those steps, many transgender 

people obtain a court order legally changing their name and, where possible, chang-

ing the sex listed on their birth certificate and other identity documents. 

73. Many transgender women go by titles like Mrs., Ms., and Miss and pro-

nouns like she and her. Many transgender men (people whose sex assigned at birth 
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is female but whose gender identity is male) go by titles like Mr. and pronouns like 

he and him. Many nonbinary people go by non-gendered titles like Mx. and non-

gendered pronouns like they and them. 

74. Misgendering a person—for example, by referring to a transgender 

woman by titles like Mr. and pronouns like he and him, by referring to a transgender 

man by titles like Ms. and pronouns like she and her, or by referring to a nonbinary 

person by any of those gendered titles or pronouns—can cause that person psycho-

logical distress and feelings of stigma. So can prohibiting a person from going by 

titles and pronouns that express the person’s gender identity. 

E. Subsection 3’s Effects on Plaintiffs 

1. Effects on Ms. Wood 

Plaintiff Katie Wood alleges the following paragraphs 75–92 against Defend-

ants Florida Department of Education, State Board of Education, Education Prac-

tices Commission, Commissioner of Education, Members of Defendant State Board 

of Education, Members of Defendant Education Practices Commission, and Hills-

borough County School Board: 

75. Ms. Wood is a transgender woman. 

76. Ms. Wood socially transitioned as a woman in or around 2020, in col-

lege and everywhere else in life. She legally changed her name and has updated her 

documents to reflect her new name and her female gender. She presents as a woman. 
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She uses the title Ms. and she/her pronouns. 

77. Ms. Wood has been employed as a teacher by Defendant Hillsborough 

County School Board since the 2021–2022 school year. She teaches math at Lennard 

High School. She is certified to teach by Defendant Florida Department of Educa-

tion, which issued her certificate in her legal name, Katie Wood. 

78. When Ms. Wood started working at Lennard High School, Defendant 

Hillsborough County School Board was supportive of her transgender status and 

female gender identity and expression. It allowed her to go by Ms. Wood and she/her 

pronouns. 

79. Before subsection 3 became law and Defendant Hillsborough County 

School Board policy, Ms. Wood was permitted to provide to students her Ms. title 

and she/her pronouns. She would introduce herself as Ms. Wood and write “Ms. 

Wood” and “she/her” on her syllabi and classroom board. 

80. Before subsection 3 became law and Defendant Hillsborough County 

School Board policy, Ms. Wood was permitted to tell anyone who misgendered her 

at work, such as by using Mr. or he/him pronouns, that her title is Ms. and that her 

pronouns are she/her. 

81. Under subsection 3 and Defendant Hillsborough County School Board 

policy, Ms. Wood may no longer provide to students her Ms. title and she/her pro-

nouns because subsection 3 deems her sex to be male. If Ms. Wood’s sex were 
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Wood to feel stigmatized. 

87. Going by Teacher has disrupted Ms. Wood’s ability to teach and dis-

tracted her students. 

88. Most students still call her Ms. Wood, while others call her Teacher 

Wood. 

89. The risk that she could lose her teaching job and license for violating 

subsection 3 and Defendant Hillsborough County School Board policy has caused 

Ms. Wood great anxiety and distracts her during work. 

90. Under subsection 3 and Defendant Hillsborough County School Board 

policy, Ms. Wood may not tell anyone who misgenders her at work, such as by using 

Mr. or he/him pronouns, that her title is Ms. and that her 
.0021 TcGsHia91aler 
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2. Effects on Ms. Doe 

Plaintiff Jane Doe alleges the following paragraphs 93–102 against Defend-

ants Florida Department of Education, State Board of Education, Education Prac-

tices Commission, Commissioner of Education, Members of Defendant State Board 

of Education, Members of Defendant Education Practices Commission, and Lee 

County School Board: 

93. Ms. Doe is a transgender woman. 

94. Ms. Doe socially transitioned as a woman after Thanksgiving 2021, at 
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Board policy, Ms. Doe was permitted to provide to students her Ms. title and she/her 

pronouns. She would introduce herself as Ms. Doe and write “Ms. Doe” and 

“she/her” on her syllabi and classroom board. 

98. Before subsection 3 became law and Defendant Lee County School 

Board policy, Ms. Doe could tell anyone who misgendered her at work, such as by 

using Mr. or he/him pronouns, that her title is Ms. and that her pronouns are she/her. 

99. Under subsection 3 and Defendant Lee County School Board policy, 

Ms. Doe may no longer provide to students her Ms. title and she/her pronouns be-

cause subsection 3 deems her sex to be male. If Ms. Doe’s sex were deemed female, 

then subsection 3 would not prohibit her from providing her Ms. title and she/her 

pronouns to students. 

100. Going by titles like Mr. and pronouns like he and him would harm Ms. 

Doe, including emotionally, risk physical harm from others, and disrupt her class-

room and her ability to do her job. Avoiding titles and pronouns altogether would be 

impractical and disruptive. 

101. Under subsection 3 and Defendant Lee County School Board policy, 

Ms. Doe may not tell anyone who misgenders her at work, such as by using Mr. or 

he/him pronouns, that her title is Ms. and that her pronouns are she/her because sub-

section 3 deems her sex to be male. 

102. Ms. Doe filed a charge of employment discrimination with the EEOC 
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against Defendants Florida Department of Education, State Board of Education, Ed-

ucation Practices Commission, and Lee County School Board on December 8, 2023. 

She intends to amend this complaint after the EEOC sends her a notice of her right 

to sue. 

3. Effects on Mx. Schwandes 

Plaintiff AV Schwandes alleges the following paragraphs 103–110 against 

Defendants Florida Department of Education, State Board of Education, Education 

Practices Commission, Commissioner of Education, Members of Defendant State 

Board of Education, Members of Defendant Education Practices Commission, and 

Florida Virtual School Board of Trustees: 

103. Mx. Schwandes is nonbinary; their sex assigned at birth was female, 

but their gender identity is neither male nor female. They use the title Mx. (pro-

nouncing it mux) and they/them pronouns. 

104. Mx. Schwandes was employed as a teacher by Defendant Florida Vir-

tual School Board of Trustees from July 19, 2021, until their termination on October 

24, 2023. They taught physical science and then physics. They are certified to teach 

by Defendant Florida Department of Education. 

105. Starting around June or July 2023, Mx. Schwandes started to use Mx. 

and they/them pronouns at work. 

106. At first, Mx. Schwandes’s supervisor was okay with their use of Mx., 
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but on August 28, 2023, he directed them to stop using Mx. and to instead use a title 

like Ms. or Mrs. Mx. Schwandes refused to comply. 

107. On September 15, 2023, Defendant Florida Virtual School Board of 

Trustees suspended Mx. Schwandes for violating subsection 3 and Defendant Flor-

ida Virtual School Board of Trustees policy, directed them to comply with subsec-

tion 3 by using Ms., Mrs., or Miss instead of Mx., and threatened to terminate their 

employment for noncompliance. Mx. Schwandes again refused to comply. 

108. Defendant Florida Virtual School Board of Trustees did not permit Mx. 

Schwandes to use non-gendered titles like Professor, Doctor, or Teacher. 

109. On October 24, 2023, Defendant Florida Virtual School Board of Trus-

tees terminated Mx. Schwandes’s employment for violating subsection 3 and De-

fendant Florida Virtual School Board of Trustees policy. 

110. Mx. Schwandes filed a charge of employment discrimination against 

Defendant Florida Virtual School Board of Trustees with the Florida Commission 

on Human Relations on September 26, 2023, and with the EEOC on November 8, 

2023. Mx. Schwandes submitted a charge of employment discrimination against De-

fendants Florida Department of Education, State Board of Education, and Education 

Practices Commission with the EEOC on December 12, 2023. They intend to amend 

this complaint after the EEOC sends them a notice of their right to sue. 
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT 1 

Violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2 

Discrimination Because of Sex 

Pursuant to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5 

By All Plaintiffs Against Defendants Florida Department of Education, State 
Board of Education, and Education Practices Commission 

111. All Plaintiffs separately bring this claim against Defendants Florida De-

partment of Education, State Board of Education, and Education Practices Commis-

sion. Plaintiff Katie Wood realleges paragraphs 4, 7–12, 14–61, and 69–92 against 

them. When answering Ms. Wood’s claim against them in this count, each of those 

Defendants should read “Plaintiff” to refer only to Ms. Wood. Plaintiff Jane Doe 

realleges paragraphs 5, 7–12, 14–58, 62–66, 69–74, and 93–102 against them. When 
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Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq. (“Title VII”). 

113. Plaintiff is an individual within the meaning of Title VII. 

114. Subsection 3 discriminates because of sex within the meaning Title VII. 

115. Subsection 3 was and is a term or condition of Plaintiff’s employment 

within the meaning of Title VII. 

116. Subsection 3 affected and affects the terms and conditions of Plaintiff’s 

employment within the meaning of Title VII. 

117. Requiring Plaintiff to comply with subsection 3 was and is an adverse 

employment action under Title VII. 

118. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant discrim-

inated and discriminates against Plaintiff with respect to terms, conditions, or privi-

leges of employment because of sex, in violation of Title VII. 

119. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant inter-

fered and interferes with Plaintiff’s employment opportunities, in violation of Title 

VII. 

COUNT 2 

Preemption by Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-7 

Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and the Court’s Inherent Equitable Powers 

By All Plaintiffs Against Defendants Commissioner of Education, Members of De-
fendant State Board of Education, and Members of Defendant Education Practices 

Commission 
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120. All Plaintiffs separately bring this claim against Defendants Florida De-

partment of Education, State Board of Education, and Education Practices Commis-

sion. Plaintiff Katie Wood realleges paragraphs 4, 7–12, 14–61, and 69–92 against 

them. When answering Ms. Wood’s claim against them in this count, each of those 

Defendants should read “Plaintiff” to refer only to Ms. Wood. Plaintiff Jane Doe 

realleges paragraphs 5, 7–12, 14–58, 62–66, 69–74, and 93–102 against them. When 

answering Ms. Doe’s claim against them in this count, each of those Defendants 

should read “Plaintiff” to refer only to Ms. Doe. Plaintiff AV Schwandes realleges 

paragraphs 6–13, 17–51, 67–74, and 103–110 against them. When answering Mx. 

Schwandes’s claim against them in this count, each of those Defendants should read 

“Plaintiff” to refer only to Mx. Schwandes. Each of those Defendants should read 

“Defendant” in the paragraphs of this count to refer only to that answering Defend-

ant. 

121. Title VII secures Plaintiff’s right not to be discriminated against in em-

ployment because of sex. 

122. Subsection 3 required and requires Plaintiff’s employer to discriminate 

against Plaintiff in employment because of sex. 

123. Subsection 3 is preempted by Title VII because subsection 3 purports 

to require or permit the doing of an act that would be an unlawful employment prac-

tice under Title VII. 
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124. The Court has the inherent equitable power to enjoin subsection 3 be-

cause it conflicts with Title VII and Congress has not shown an intent to prohibit 

private actions for such injunctive relief. 

125. Plaintiff’s right under Title VII not to be discriminated against in em-

ployment because of sex is a right secured by the laws of the United States within 

the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

126. Defendant is a person within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

127. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant acted 

and acts under color of state law within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

128. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant sub-

jected and subjects Plaintiff to the deprivation of Plaintiff’s right not to be discrimi-

nated against in employment because of sex, which is secured by Title VII. 

COUNT 3 

Violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2 

Discrimination Because of Sex 

natedctiocause5.3777J
17.3949 0 TD
.00128Tc
nan 3, DHillsborough Tw
nty School Board
(COUNT 3)]TJ
-19

1 2 4 .  Kaise Wood br th Couhiccling to e79 1 Tf
.824 0 TD
.0014 Tc
-.0aimTw
(natedction 3, DHillsborough nt acted 94of -19.0644 -2.3000 TD
.0539Tc
-.0Tw
nty School Board
ed)-inging to2-

Case 4:23-cv-00526-MW-MAF   Document 1   Filed 12/13/23   Page 38 of 61



39 

130. Defendant Hillsborough County School Board is an employer within 

the meaning of Title VII. 

131. Ms. Wood is an individual within the meaning of Title VII. 

132. Subsection 3 discriminates because of sex within the meaning Title VII. 

133. Subsection 3 was and is a term or condition of Ms. Wood’s employment 
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COUNT 5 

Violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2 

Discrimination Because of Sex 

Pursuant to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5 

By Plaintiff AV Schwandes Against Defendant Florida Virtual School Board of 
Trustees 

145. Plaintiff AV Schwandes brings this claim against Defendant Florida 

Virtual School Board of Trustees and realleges paragraphs 6–13, 17–51, 67–74, and 

103–110 against it. 

146. Defendant Florida Virtual School Board of Trustees was Mx. Schwan-

des’s employer within the meaning of Title VII. 

147. Mx. Schwandes is an individual within the meaning of Title VII. 

148. Subsection 3 discriminates because of sex within the meaning Title VII. 

149. Subsection 3 was a term or condition of Mx. Schwandes’s employment 

within the meaning of Title VII. 

150. Subsection 3 affected the terms and conditions of Mx. Schwandes’s 

employment within the meaning of Title VII. 

151. Requiring Mx. Schwandes to comply with subsection 3 was an adverse 

employment action under Title VII. 

152. By enforcing subsection 3, Defendant Florida Virtual School Board dis-

criminated against Mx. Schwandes with respect to terms, conditions, or privileges 
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of employment because of sex, in violation of Title VII. 

COUNT 6 

Violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2 

Discharge Because of Sex 

Pursuant to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5 

By Plaintiff AV Schwandes Against Defendant Florida Virtual School Board of 
Trustees 

153. Plaintiff AV Schwandes brings this claim against Defendant Florida 

Virtual School Board of Trustees and realleges paragraphs 6–13, 17–51, 67–74, and 

103–110 against it. 

154. Defendant Florida Virtual School Board of Trustees was Mx. Schwan-

des’s employer within the meaning of Title VII. 

155. Mx. Schwandes is an individual within the meaning of Title VII. 

156. Subsection 3 discriminates because of sex within the meaning Title VII. 

157. Discharging Mx. Schwandes for not complying with subsection 3 was 

an adverse employment action under Title VII. 

158. Defendant Florida Virtual School Board of Trustees discharged Mx. 

Schwandes because of sex, in violation of Title VII. 
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COUNT 7 

Violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution 

Deprivation of Freedom of Speech 

Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

By All Plaintiffs Against Defendants Commissioner of Education, Members of De-
fendant State Board of Education, and Members of Defendant Education Practices 

Commission 

159. All Plaintiffs bring this claim against Defendants Commissioner of Ed-

ucation, Members of Defendant State Board of Education, and Members of Defend-

ant Education Practices Commission. Plaintiff Katie Wood realleges paragraphs 4, 

7–12, 14–61, and 69–92 against them. When answering Ms. Wood’s claim against 

them in this count, each of those Defendants should read “Plaintiff” to refer only to 

Ms. Wood. Plaintiff Jane Doe realleges paragraphs 5, 7–12, 14–58, 62–66, 69–74, 

and 93–102 against them. When answering Ms. Doe’s claim against them in this 

count, each of those Defendants should read “Plaintiff” to refer only to Ms. Doe. 

Plaintiff AV Schwandes realleges paragraphs 6–13, 17–51, 67–74, and 103–110 

against them. When answering Mx. Schwandes’s claim against them in this count, 

each of those Defendants should read “Plaintiff” to refer only to Mx. Schwandes. 

Each of those Defendants should read “Defendant” in the paragraphs of this count 

to refer only to that answering Defendant. 

160. Subsection 3 violates the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment 
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to the U.S. Constitution, applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment 

to the U.S. Constitution. 

161. Plaintiff had and has free speech rights while at work, including in the 

classroom and during work hours. 

162. Plaintiff’s providing Plaintiff’s title and pronouns to students, within 

the meaning of subsection 3, was and is speech protected by the First Amendment. 
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if any, in preventing Plaintiff from doing so. 

167. Defendant is a person within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

168. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant was and 

is acting under color of state law within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

169. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant was and 

is subjecting Plaintiff to the deprivation of Plaintiff’s right to freedom of speech 

secured by the First and Fourteenth Amendments. 

COUNT 8 

Violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution 

Deprivation of Freedom of Speech 

Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

By Plaintiff Katie Wood Against Defendant Hillsborough County School Board 

170. Plaintiff Katie Wood brings this claim against Defendant Hillsborough 

County School Board and realleges paragraphs 4, 7–12, 14–61, and 69–92 against 

it. 

171. Subsection 3 violates the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment 

to the U.S. Constitution, applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment 

to the U.S. Constitution. 

172. Ms. Wood had and has free speech rights while at work, including in 

the classroom and during work hours. 
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173. Ms. Wood’s providing her title and pronouns to students, within the 

meaning of subsection 3, was and is speech protected by the First Amendment. 

174. Ms. Wood’s speech was and is her own speech and message, not De-

fendant Hillsborough County School Board’s or the government’s. Neither Defend-

ant Hillsborough County School Board nor the government commissioned or created 

her speech. She was not and is not speaking pursuant to government policy. She was 

not and is not seeking to convey a government-created message. She was not and is 

not instructing students, encouraging better performance, or engaging in any other 

speech that Defendant Hillsborough County School Board paid and pays her to pro-

duce as a teacher. Her speech did not and does not owe its existence to her respon-

sibilities as a public employee. 

175. Ms. Wood’s speech was not and is not government speech subject to 

government control just because students heard it and will or might hear it. 

176. Ms. Wood’s speech implicated and implicates a matter of public con-

cern for purposes of the First Amendment. 

177. Ms. Wood’s strong interest in being allowed to express her gender iden-

tity by using her title and pronouns outweighs any government interest, if any, in 

preventing her from doing so. 

178. Defendant Hillsborough County School Board is a person within the 

meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 
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179. Subsection 3 was and is an official policy of Defendant Hillsborough 

County School Board. 

180. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant Hills-

borough County School Board was and is acting under color of state law within the 

meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

181. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant Hills-

borough County School Board was and is subjecting Ms. Wood to the deprivation 

of her right to freedom of speech secured by the First and Fourteenth Amendments. 

COUNT 9 

Violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution 

Deprivation of Freedom of Speech 

Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

By Plaintiff Jane Doe Against Defendant Lee County School Board 

182. Plaintiff Jane Doe brings this claim against Defendant Lee County 

School Board and realleges paragraphs 5, 7–12, 14–58, 62–66, 69–74, and 93–102 

against it. 

183. Subsection 3 violates the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment 

to the U.S. Constitution, applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment 

to the U.S. Constitution. 

184. Ms. Doe had and has free speech rights while at work, including in the 
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classroom and during work hours. 

185. Ms. Doe’s providing her title and pronouns to students, within the 

meaning of subsection 3, was and is speech protected by the First Amendment. 

186. Ms. Doe’s speech was and is her own speech and message, not Defend-

ant Lee County School Board’s or the government’s. Neither Defendant Lee County 

School Board nor the government commissioned or created her speech. She was not 

and is not speaking pursuant to government policy. She was not and is not seeking 

to convey a government-created message. She was not and is not instructing stu-

dents, encouraging better performance, or engaging in any other speech that Defend-

ant Lee County School Board paid and pays her to produce as a teacher. Her speech 

did not and does not owe its existence to her responsibilities as a public employee. 

187. Ms. Doe’s speech was not and is not government speech subject to gov-

ernment control just because students heard it and will or might hear it. 

188. Ms. Doe’s speech implicated and implicates a matter of public concern 

for purposes of the First Amendment. 

189. Ms. Doe’s strong interest in being allowed to express her gender iden-

tity by using her title and pronouns outweighs any government interest, if any, in 

preventing her from doing so. 

190. Defendant Lee County School Board is a person within the meaning of 

42 U.S.C. § 1983. 
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191. Subsection 3 was and is an official policy of Defendant Lee County 

School Board. 

192. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant Lee 

County School Board was and is acting under color of state law within the meaning 

of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

193. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant Lee 

County School Board was and is subjecting Ms. Doe to the deprivation of her right 

to freedom of speech secured by the First and Fourteenth Amendments. 

COUNT 10 

Violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution 

Deprivation of Equal Protection of the Laws 

Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

By All Plaintiffs Against Defendants Commissioner of Education, Members of De-
fendant State Board of Education, and Members of Defendant Education Practices 

Commission 

194. All Plaintiffs separately bring this claim against Defendants Commis-

sioner of Education, Members of Defendant State Board of Education, and Members 

of Defendant Education Practices Commission. Plaintiff Katie Wood realleges par-

agraphs 4, 7–12, 14–61, and 69–92 against them. When answering Ms. Wood’s 

claim against them in this count, each of those Defendants should read “Plaintiff” to 

refer only to Ms. Wood. Plaintiff Jane Doe realleges paragraphs 5, 7–12, 14–58, 62–
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66, 69–74, and 93–102 against them. When answering Ms. Doe’s claim against them 

in this count, each of those Defendants should read “Plaintiff” to refer only to Ms. 

Doe. Plaintiff AV Schwandes realleges paragraphs 6–13, 17–51, 67–74, and 103–

110 against them. When answering Mx. Schwandes’s claim against them in this 

count, each of those Defendants should read “Plaintiff” to refer only to Mx. Schwan-

des. Each of those Defendants should read “Defendant” in the paragraphs of this 

count to refer only to that answering Defendant. 

195. Subsection 3 violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. 

196. Subsection 3 classifies on the basis of sex within the meaning of the 

Equal Protection Clause. 

197. Subsection 3 is subject to intermediate scrutiny under the Equal Protec-

tion Clause. 

198. Subsection 3 fails intermediate scrutiny because Defendant cannot 

demonstrate an exceedingly persuasive justification—one that is genuine, not hy-

pothesized, not invented post hoc in response to litigation, and that does not rely on 

overbroad generalizations about the different talents, capacities, or preferences of 

males and females—for its discrimination because of sex. Defendant cannot show 

that subsection 3 serves an important governmental objective because there is none, 

and it cannot show that its discriminatory means are substantially related to the 
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achievement of that objective because they cannot be. 

199. Even if subsection 3 is instead subject to rational-basis review, it fails 

rational-basis review because its discriminatory classification does not bear a ra-

tional relation to any legitimate end. 

200. Defendant is a person within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

201. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant was and 

is acting under color of state law within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

202. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant was and 

is subjecting Plaintiff to the deprivation of Plaintiff’s right to equal protection of the 

laws secured by the Fourteenth Amendment. 

COUNT 11 

Violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution 

Deprivation of Equal Protection of the Laws 

Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

By Plaintiff Katie Wood Against Defendant Hillsborough County School Board 

203. Plaintiff Katie Wood brings this claim against Defendant Hillsborough 

County School Board and realleges paragraphs 4, 7–12, 14–61, and 69–92 against 

it. 

204. Subsection 3 violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. 
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205. Subsection 3 classifies on the basis of sex within the meaning of the 

Equal Protection Clause. 

206. Subsection 3 is subject to intermediate scrutiny under the Equal Protec-

tion Clause. 

207. Subsection 3 fails intermediate scrutiny because Defendant Hills-

borough County School Board cannot demonstrate an exceedingly persuasive justi-

fication—one that is genuine, not hypothesized, not invented post hoc in response to 

litigation, and that does not rely on overbroad generalizations about the different 

talents, capacities, or preferences of males and females—for its discrimination be-

cause of sex. Defendant Hillsborough County School Board cannot show that sub-

section 3 serves an important governmentdems an imD
.0tsti-
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211. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant Hills-

borough County School Board was and is acting under color of state law within the 

meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

212. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant Hills-

borough County School Board was and is subjecting Ms. Wood to the deprivation 

of her right to equal protection of the la
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217. Subsection 3 fails intermediate scrutiny because Defendant Lee County 

School Board cannot demonstrate an exceedingly persuasive justification—one that 

is genuine, not hypothesized, not invented post hoc in response to litigation, and that 

does not rely on overbroad generalizations about the different talents, capacities, or 

preferences of males and females—for its discrimination because of sex. Defendant 

Lee County School Board cannot show that subsection 3 serves an important gov-

ernmental objective because there is none, and it cannot show that its discriminatory 

means are substantially related to the achievement of that objective because they 

cannot be. 

218. Even if subsection 3 is instead subject to rational-basis review, it fails 

rational-basis review because its discriminatory classification does not bear a ra-

tional relation to any legitimate end. 

219. Defendant Lee County School Board is a person within the meaning of 

42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

220. Subsection 3 is an official policy of Defendant Lee County School 

Board. 

221. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant Lee 

County School Board was and is acting under color of state law within the meaning 

of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

222. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant Lee 
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County School Board was and is subjecting Ms. Doe to the deprivation of her right 

to equal protection of the laws secured by the Fourteenth Amendment. 

COUNT 13 

Violation of Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 
et seq. 

Discrimination on the Basis of Sex 

Pursuant to Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et 
seq. 

By All Plaintiffs Against Defendants Florida Department of Education, State 
Board of Education, and Education Practices Commission 

223. All Plaintiffs separately bring this claim against Defendants Florida De-

partment of Education, State Board of Education, and Education Practices Commis-

sion. Plaintiff Katie Wood realleges paragraphs 4, 7–12, 14–61, and 69–92 against 

them. When answering Ms. Wood’s claim against them in this count, each of those 

Defendants should read “Plaintiff” to refer only to Ms. Wood. Plaintiff Jane Doe 

realleges paragraphs 5, 7–12, 14–58, 62–66, 69–74, and 93–102 against them. When 

answering Ms. Doe’s claim against them in this count, each of those Defendants 

should read “Plaintiff” to refer only to Ms. Doe. Plaintiff AV Schwandes realleges 

paragraphs 6–13, 17–51, 67–74, and 103–110 against them. When answering Mx. 

Schwandes’s claim against them in this count, each of those Defendants should read 

“Plaintiff” to refer only to Mx. Schwandes. Each of those Defendants should read 

“Defendant” in the paragraphs of this count to refer only to that answering 
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Defendant. 

224. Plaintiff is a person within the meaning of Title IX of the Education 

Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 (“Title IX”). 

225. Defendant operates education programs or activities receiving federal 

financial assistance within the meaning of Title IX. 

226. Subsection 3 discriminates on the basis of sex within the meaning Title 

IX. 

227. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant, on the 

basis of Plaintiff’s sex, excludes Plaintiff from participation in, denies Plaintiff the 

benefits of, and subjects Plaintiff to discrimination, under an education program or 

activity receiving federal financial assistance, in violation of Title IX. 

COUNT 14 

Violation of Title IX of the Educat 
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229. Ms. Wood is a person within the meaning of Title IX of the Education 

Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 (“Title IX”). 

230. Defendant Hillsborough County School Board operates education pro-

grams or activities receiving federal financial assistance within the meaning of Title 

IX. 

231. Subsection 3 discriminates on the basis of sex within the meaning Title 

IX. 

232. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant Hills-

borough County School Board, on the basis of Ms. Wood’s sex, excludes her from 

participation in, denies her the benefits of, and subjects her to discrimination, under 

an education program or activity receiving federal financial assistance, in violation 

of Title IX. 

COUNT 15 

Violation of Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 
et seq. 

Discrimination on the Basis of Sex 
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against it. 

234. Ms. Doe is a person within the meaning of Title IX of the Education 

Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 (“Title IX”). 

235. Defendant Lee County School Board operates education programs or 

activities receiving federal financial assistance within the meaning of Title IX. 

236. Subsection 3 discriminates on the basis of sex within the meaning Title 

IX. 

237. By enforcing or threatening to enforce subsection 3, Defendant Lee 

County School Board, on the basis of Ms. Doe’s sex, excludes her from participation 

in, denies her the benefits of, and subjects her to discrimination, under an education 

program or activity receiving federal financial assistance, in violation of Title IX. 

COUNT 16 
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239. Mx. Schwandes is a person within the meaning of Title IX. 

240. Defendant Florida Virtual School Board of Trustees operated education 

programs or activities receiving federal financial assistance, within the meaning of 

Title IX, during Mx. Schwandes’s employment. 

241. Subsection 3 discriminates on the basis of sex within the meaning Title 

IX. 

242. By enforcing subsection 3 and terminating Mx. Schwandes for not com-

plying with subsection 3, Defendant Florida Virtual School Board of Trustees, on 

the basis of Mx. Schwandes’s sex, excluded them from participation in, denied them 

the benefits of, and subjected them to discrimination, under an education program 

or activity receiving federal financial assistance, in violation of Title IX. 

JURY DEMAND 
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with any such person from enforcing subsection 3 of Fla. Stat. § 1000.071; 

D. award Plaintiffs compensatory damages, in an amount to be proved at 

trial; 

E. award Plaintiff AV Schwandes back pay and front pay, in an amount to 

be proved at trial; 

F. award Plaintiffs nominal damages; 

G. award Plaintiffs their costs, attorney’s fees, and expert fees; and 

H. grant all further necessary or proper relief. 

Respectfully submitted. 

December 13, 2023 /s/ Sam Boyd  
Sam Boyd, Fla. Bar No. 1012141  
Carli Raben, Fla. Bar No. 1036013  
SOUTHERN POVERTY LAW CENTER 
2 S. Biscayne Blvd. Ste. 3750 
Miami, FL 33131 
(786) 347-2056 
(786) 237-2949 (fax) 
sam.boyd@splcenter.org 
carli.raben@splcenter.org 

Aaron S. Fleisher*† 
SOUTHERN POVERTY LAW CENTER 
1101 17th St NW Ste. 705 
Washington, DC 20036 
(202) 536-9719 
(202) 971-9205 (fax) 
aaron.fleisher@splcenter.org 
† Not admitted to practice law in DC 

Diego A. Soto*‡ 
Jessica L. Stone* 
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150 E. Ponce De Leon Ave. Ste. 340 
Decatur, GA 30030 
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James Baltzer* 
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* Pro hac vice motion forthcoming 
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